California State University, San Bernardino CSUSB ScholarWorks

Theses Digitization Project

John M. Pfau Library

1996

Individual differences in the tendency to fake good in personality assessment

Jennifer L. Mersman

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.lib.csusb.edu/etd-project

Part of the Psychology Commons

Recommended Citation

Mersman, Jennifer L., "Individual differences in the tendency to fake good in personality assessment" (1996). *Theses Digitization Project*. 1173. https://scholarworks.lib.csusb.edu/etd-project/1173

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the John M. Pfau Library at CSUSB ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses Digitization Project by an authorized administrator of CSUSB ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact scholarworks@csusb.edu.

INDIVIDUAL DIFFERENCES IN THE TENDENCY TO FAKE GOOD

IN PERSONALITY ASSESSMENT

A Thesis

Presented to the

Faculty of

California State University, San Bernardino

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science

in

Psychology: Industrial/Organizational

and the second second

by Jennifer L. Mersman

June 1996

INDIVIDUAL DIFFERENCES IN THE TENDENCY TO FAKE GOOD IN PERSONALITY ASSESSMENT

A Thesis

Presented to the Faculty of

California State University,

San Bernardino

by

Jennifer L. Mersman

June 1996 Approved by:



Matt Riggs

6/7/96 Date

ABSTRACT

Faking good on personality measures has traditionally been conceptualized as a threat to validity. However, many have called for treating faking good as an individual difference variable that may be predictive in its own right. Faking good is conceptually related to Self-Monitoring, Social Desirability, and Impression Management. In the present study, it was hypothesized that the tendency to fake good on the Big Five personality dimensions would be correlated with higher scores on Self-Monitoring, Social Desirability, and Impression Management. The method involved a repeated measures design. Time one was the honest condition where subjects completed a measure of the Big Five personality dimensions with instructions to respond honestly. Time two was the fake condition where subject completed the same personality measure with instructions to respond as a job applicant attempting to give as good impression as possible in order to obtain the job. Results indicate that faking good, as measured by within-subject correlations between the honest and fake conditions, was not significantly correlated with the constructs of Self-Monitoring, Social Desirability, nor Impression Management. Problems associated with the current measures of faking, as well as implications for future research on the individual difference variable of faking good are discussed.

iii

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

As I consider those individuals who have supported me in completing my thesis, I am very grateful. Ken Shultz, my thesis advisor, thank you for your unending patience, valuable input, attention to detail, and not calling me a dork when you probably should have. My committee, Matt Riggs and Gerard Saucier, thank you for your time and effort in enhancing the quality of this project. Jim Rogers, Jan Kottke Janelle Gilbert, Matt Riggs, and Gloria Cowan, thank you for graciously allowing me to recruit your students as participants. Diane Phaler, thank you for your tremendous amount of participants. Your wise guidance, dedication, and commitment have helped me and many others to persist and accomplish our goals. Jan Kottke, thank you for going above and beyond the call of duty in order to facilitate my progress through this program.

To my friends and peers, thank you for the support system, without which none of us would be sane. To Kathryn Paget, Ming Yu, and Cheryl Simmons, thank you for all your tolerance, help, and advice.

And finally to my family, who have always supported me. My husband Steve, thank you for your endless faith in my abilities, your constant encouragement for me to strive ahead, and your endurance of my many tribulations. And to my mom Carolyn, thank you for always coming through for me without question, and for facilitating every difficult process. Your love and boundless support have made me who I am.

iv

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	vi
INTRODUCTION	1
Faking in Personality Inventories	3
Social Desirability and Impression Management	5
Impression Management and Self Monitoring	7
Faking Good and Response Bias	9
Faking Good as an Individual Difference Variable Rather Than a Contaminant	11
Summary	13
Implications	14
Hypotheses	15
METHOD	
Subjects	16
Materials	17
Procedure	21
RESULTS	21
DISCUSSION	26
Limitations	30
Theoretical Implications	32
Future Research	33
APPENDIX A:	44
APPENDIX B:	45
APPENDIX C:	46
APPENDIX D:	48
REFERENCES	53

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	Means and Standard Deviations for Self-Monitoring, Social Desirability, Impression Management, Self-Deceptive Enhancement, and the g Measure	35
Table 2.	Means, Standard Deviations, Reliability Coefficients, and Test-Retest Reliabilities for all Big Five Dimensions (honest and fake conditions)	36
Table 3.	Means and standard Deviations for the Within-Subject Correlations of the Honest and Fake Conditions (r_{WHF}) for Each Scale of the Big Five	37
Table 4.	Results from T-Tests on the Differences Between Means on Time 2 (fake) and Time 1 (honest) for each Dimension on the Big Five	38
Table 5.	Correlations Between Scores on the Big Five Dimensions (honest and fake conditions) and Self-Monitoring, Social Desirability, Impression Management, Self-Deceptive Enhancement, and the g Measure	39
Table 6.	Correlations Between All Indices of Faking Across All Big Five Dimensions	40
Table 7.	Correlations Between Self-Monitoring, Social Desirability, Impression Management, Self-Deceptive Enhancement, and the g Measure	41
Table 8.	Results of Multiple Regression Analyses As Tests of Goodnes of Fit	s 42
	방법은 사람은 가장 전체가 있는 것은 것은 것은 것이 있는 것이 있다. 같은 것은 것이 같은 것이 같은 것이 있는 것이 있	

Introduction

Human resource selection includes many potential methods of assessment. Personality assessment is one such method, and is a dynamic field of research. In past decades, the use of personality measures as selection instruments has been held in poor regard because of their questionable predictiveness of job related criteria (Guion & Gottier, 1966). This may have been due to the types of personality measures that were used to predict job performance. These measures were typically assessments of psychopathology (e.g., MMPI) rather than specific categories of personality traits that could be linked to specific work behaviors. However, researchers have switched from using psychopatholigcal measures of personality to measures of normal range personality traits (e.g., NEO PI); and more recently, the validity of personality measures for predicting a variety of job related outcomes has received empirical support (Barrick & Mount, 1991; Tett, Jackson, & Rothstein, 1991). Recent research indicates that the validity of personality measures is acceptable when the personality constructs assessed are part of a widely accepted, unified framework of traits.

Barrick and Mount (1991) conducted a meta-analysis in order to assess the validity of the Big Five personality dimensions (Extraversion, Emotional Stability, Agreeableness, Conscientiousness, and Intellect) as predictors of job performance. The criteria of job performance included job proficiency, training proficiency, and personnel data (e.g., salary level and turnover). The results of their meta-analysis based on 117 studies and a total sample of 23,994 revealed that conscientiousness was a valid predictor for all criteria across all job categories (ρ ranges from .20 to .23). In addition, they found that extraversion was a valid predictor for all performance criteria for two job types (managers and sales).

Tett, Jackson, and Rothstein (1991) found results similar to those of Barrick and Mount (1991). However, their findings suggested that Barrick and Mount's (1991) validities were underestimated. Tett, et al. conducted a meta-analysis on 97 studies with 13,521 subjects to determine the predictive validity of the Big Five personality dimensions, Type A personality, and Locus of Control for job performance. The overall validity coefficient for these personality measures combined for job performance was .22. This validity coefficient was larger than Barrick and Mount's (1991), who looked at the validity for each of the Big Five dimensions separately. Tett, et al. note that Barrick and Mount's overall corrected sample-weighted mean correlation was .11, while theirs was .24.

The results of these two meta-analytic studies provide support for Hogan's (1992) conclusion on the use of personality measurement: "Despite the pessimistic conclusions of reviews published in the 1960's, evidence gathered over the past three decades suggests that personality inventories can make valid contributions to personnel selection and assessment" (p.910). In fact, personality tests can be valuable for selection purposes because of their incremental validity over cognitive ability tests. Personality tests account for unique variance that is not accounted for by cognitive ability measures. Another positive aspect of personality tests is that they tend not to have adverse impact. That is, they do not impact protected groups under Title VII more harshly than majority groups. Thus, not only do personality tests add something unique to measures of cognitive ability, they also reduce adverse impact when used in combination with measures of cognitive ability (which do tend to show adverse impact). However, one issue that has been viewed as potentially compromising this established validity of personality characteristics in predicting a variety of job relevant criteria is dissimulation.

Faking in Personality Inventories

There is little doubt that faking in personality measures is possible. Research has shown that subjects are capable of distorting their scores on personality inventories when instructed to give as good an impression as possible. Dicken (1960) investigated the susceptibility of the California Psychological Inventory (CPI) to response distortion. The CPI was administered to 100 introductory psychology students. One group of students was instructed to respond to the inventory in a manner that would give the most favorable impression of themselves. Scores on the CPI for students in the "good impression" condition were significantly higher than scores for subjects in the standard test taking condition.

Hinrichsen, Gryll, Bradley, and Katahn (1975) examined the extent to which the Fundamental Interpersonal Relations Orientation-Behavior test (FIRO-B) is susceptible to faking. This test was given to 60 undergraduate students. There were three groups of subjects, each with different instructions for taking the FIRO-B. The three instructional conditions were normal (respond honestly), fake good (role play a job applicant seeking to appear psychologically well-adjusted), and fake bad (give the impression of a maladjusted person). Results revealed that scores on the FIRO-B were higher for subjects in the fake good condition as compared to subjects in the normal and fake bad conditions. This indicates that faking is quite possible for the FIRO-B.

Hough, Eaton, Dunnette, Kamp, and McCloy (1990) also found that subjects are capable of distorting their responses to personality measures in the desired direction. These authors administered a temperament inventory called ABLE (Assessment of Background and Life Experiences) to over 9,000 military personnel. In one study, subjects were instructed to either fake good (describe yourself in a way that you think will ensure that the Army selects you), fake bad (describe yourself in a way that you think will ensure that the Army does not select you), or respond honestly (describe yourself as you really are). Results indicated that when instructed to do so, soldiers did significantly distort their responses. In a separate sample of applicants at the Military Entrance Processing Station, the authors identified those subjects who positively distorted their responses to ABLE through a Social Desirability scale. The authors concluded that the applicant sample did not significantly distort their responses since the mean score was not significantly different from the mean score of incumbents. Further, they concluded that response distortion did not attenuate correlations between ABLE and measures of job performance.

The preceding studies are representative of the research that has shown subjects are capable of positively distorting their scores on personality inventories when instructed to give as good an impression as possible. Because there is much evidence to show that faking in personality assessment can occur, a primary concern is that the information obtained from personality measures is invalid if faked. In personnel selection, distorted personality measures are viewed as false indicators of the traits that are supposed to predict job performance. As Hough, et al. (1990) note, "Indeed, the possibility of response distortion is often cited as one of the main arguments against the use

of personality measures to aid in selection decisions" (p. 581). One way in which this concern is addressed is by the detection of faked responses through social desirability scales.

Social Desirability and Impression Management

Socially desirable responding is probably the most extensively studied response bias, and refers to the tendency to respond in such a manner so as to make one's self look good (Paulhus, 1991). Researchers have shown that responding in order to give a good impression (or faking good) is related to the social desirability of the test items. Dunnett, Koun, and Barber (1981) examined the degree to which the social desirability of test items can distort the Eysenck Personality Inventory (EPI). These authors administered the EPI to British subjects (professionals as well as students) and instructed them to either present themselves in the best possible light, the worst possible light, or as honest as possible. A separate group of subjects was asked to rate each item on the EPI in terms of its social desirability (how acceptable and likable a person making such a statement would be viewed by society). Results indicated that subjects in the fake good condition scored significantly higher on the Extraversion scale of the EPI, and significantly lower on the Neuroticism scale than subjects in the honest condition. Moreover, "fake good" subjects tended to endorse items that correlated highly with the items the separate group of subjects rated as socially desirable. Therefore, this study provides evidence that the concepts of faking good to give a positive impression of oneself and socially desirable responding are related.

In studies that have examined the susceptibility of personality measures to faking, instructions to fake good include, "present yourself in the best possible light" (Dunnett, et al., 1981, p.20); "give the

most favorable possible impression of yourself" (Dicken, 1960, p. 25); "describe yourself in a way that will ensure that the Army selects you" (Hough, et al., 1990, p. 586). All of these descriptions instruct the subjects to engage in what is known as impression management. Impression management refers to the way in which people present a positive impression of themselves to others. Giacalone and Rosenfeld (1989) suggest that people are actors who take on many different roles. We attempt to please our audiences using various impression management tactics in order to avoid looking bad. Thus, we manage the impressions we give to others to convey ourselves in the best way possible.

The instructions to "fake good" in the susceptibility to faking studies cited above can be conceived of as impression management. In personality inventories, people who attempt to present themselves in the best possible light (fake good) may in fact be engaging in impression management tactics.

The issue of faking and impression management has been addressed directly by Paulhus (1984), who has shown that social desirability consists of two components - one of which is impression management. Paulhus (1984) proposes that there are two types of socially desirable response biases. He attempted to partition social desirability according to a two-factor model that consists of self deception and impression management. Self deception is where the respondent honestly believes his or her positive response distortion, and therefore it is not a conscious attempt to dissemble. Impression management, on the other hand, is where the respondent consciously distorts items in a positive direction. Paulhus tested this two-factor theory through an exploratory factor analysis of over 150 items from a battery of six social desirability scales. Results revealed the two major factors that

Paulhus defined as self deception and impression management. These results suggest that not only are impression management and social desirability related, but impression management is actually one component of a socially desirable response bias.

However, recent research by Shultz and Chávez (1994) suggests that this two factor structure of social desirability may not hold true for non Euro-American cultures. In their study, Shultz and Chávez compared a social desirability scale completed in English to the same scale completed in Spanish. Results indicated that while the two factors of social desirability (self deception and impression management) held true for the English-version sample, the pattern did not hold for the Spanish-version sample. Hence, researchers need to show caution in interpreting their results when translating scales into a non-English language.

Impression Management and Self Monitoring

Just as impression management has been found to be a component of social desirability, it has also been suggested to relate to selfmonitoring. Snyder and Copeland (1989) propose that, " A greater understanding of the strategic dynamics involved in impression management in organizational contexts may be gained by a consideration of individuals' self-monitoring orientations" (p. 7). Snyder (1974) describes self-monitoring as a construct which refers to the control of self-presentational behaviors. People high in self-monitoring attend to situational cues that guide their self-presentation of what they believe to be appropriate behaviors. In contrast, low self-monitors only display behaviors consistent with their true feelings, regardless of situational cues. It is reasonable to make the link between impression management and self-monitoring because they are both processes of self presentation. Arkin and Shepperd (1989) describe the prototypical impression manager as the individual who is high in self-monitoring. In order to know how and when to present the most favorable impression of oneself, one needs to have the skill to choose the self-presentation and social behavior appropriate to a variety of social situations (i.e., one needs to be a high self-monitor).

Caldwell and O'Reilly (1982) conducted a laboratory experiment to investigate whether high self-monitoring undergraduate business subjects would be more likely to engage in impression management tactics than low self-monitoring subjects. The procedure involved the subjects assuming the role of an administrative manager. Subjects had to prepare a report that explained their hiring decision (as manager) of an employee who subsequently was discharged because of ineptitude. Subjects were presented with a list of 34 items from which they were to select in order to prepare the report. Items were independently judged and categorized as reflecting either favorable or unfavorable information concerning the manager's decision. The degree of subjects' selfmonitoring orientation was assessed by Snyder's (1974) self-monitoring scale. Results indicated that subjects who were high self-monitors were more likely to use items in the report that reflected favorably on their decision processes and outcomes. Thus, high self-monitors tended to endorse items that cast their decisions in a positive light - a tactic that can be perceived of as impression management.

The results of Caldwell and O'Reilly's study, in combination with Paulhus' work, suggest that it is reasonable to relate self-monitoring and social desirability to the tendency to fake good on personality

measures. Furthermore, Hogan (1992) states that impression management is a tendency or trait that can be assessed by Snyder's (1974) Self-Monitoring Scale; and Paulhus (1984) has developed a Balanced Inventory of Desirable Responding (BIDR) that contains an Impression Management subscale. Indeed, Merydith and Wallbrown (1991) assert that, "dissimulation of presenting oneself in a favorable light is part of social desirability" (p. 898). Hence, faking good is conceptually linked to impression management and social desirability (Paulhus, 1984; Merydith & Wallbrown, 1991) as well as self-monitoring (Snyder & Copeland, 1989).

While it is evident that these factors of social desirability, impression management, and self-monitoring are related to the tendency to fake good, this relationship as a whole has not been empirically tested. Moreover, the notion of faking good and its possible components has not been conceptualized within a larger framework of response bias. Faking Good and Response Bias

Paulhus (1991) defines response bias as "a systematic tendency to respond to a range of questionnaire items on some bias other than the specific content (i.e., what the items were designed to measure)" (p. 17). Response bias is a broad term which includes an entire range of biases. Furnham (1986) lists some of these biases: socially desirable, faking good, faking bad, acquiescence, nay saying, and extremity. Depending on the consistency of the manner in which individuals respond, a response bias could be a response *set* (a temporary response bias or a reaction to situational demands), or a response *style* (a response bias that is consistently displayed across time and in various situations). That is, response styles represent consistent individual differences (Paulhus 1991) while response sets are un-enduring reactions.

Dissimulation refers to a specific kind of response bias where the respondent intentionally attempts to respond in a manner that will convey a certain impression (Furnham, 1986; Merydith & Wallbrown, 1991). Depending on one's motivation then, any type of response bias could be viewed as dissimulation. Furthermore, depending on one's motivation and intentions, dissimulation may be viewed as negative or natural. Elliott (1981) reviews different interpretations of conscious dissimulation. While some view it as lying, Cattel, Eber, and Tatsuoka (as cited in Elliott, 1981) view it as produced 'half-unconsciously' in selection contexts. Heilbrun (1964) asserts that responding in order to give a good impression or appear socially desirable is not necessarily deliberate dissimulation or lying. Responding in a socially desirable manner is the way normal, healthy people respond.

Elliott (1981) argues that putting one's best foot forward in a selection context is related to adaptiveness, " If people lack the ability to adapt or if they misperceive the appropriate norms and adapt to something else, they are likely to be rejected" (p. 14). Seisdedos (1993) is also a proponent of the predictive utility of the tendency to fake good. He views faking good as an intelligent form of adaptation, where individuals utilize all their capabilities to adapt to the surrounding demands. He suggests that intentionally giving a good impression is not a form of lying or deliberate faking: "It is not necessarily negative from the subject's viewpoint to show the best 'ego,' because, in some settings, that could be the way to adapt to the circumstances" (p. 91). Thumin and Barclay (1993) even propose that those individuals with the tendency to fake good may be brighter, more perceptive, and more insightful, and as such "are the same individuals who would perform particularly well on the job" (p. 15). Thus it would

appear that for some people, and in some circumstances, faking good is a natural response style rather than a conscious mis-presentation.

Faking good is a type of response bias or form of dissimulation. While some view it as false presentation, many view it as an adaptive ability (Seisdedos, 1993) that leads to positive outcomes (Thumin & Barclay, 1993). The tendency to fake good is also theoretically related to self-monitoring, social desirability, and impression management, as discussed above. However, there is no model of response bias which incorporates faking good and its possible components. In the present study, I attempt to develop and test such a model (see figure).

To the extent that there are reliable associations between faking good, self-monitoring, social desirability, and impression management, it is worthwhile to investigate how these factors may account for variance in individual differences in faking good.

Faking Good as an Individual Difference Variable

Rather Than a Contaminant

Faking good on selection instruments has been viewed as a contaminant to the accuracy of self reports. People who score high on social desirability scales are assumed to be faking good (i.e., engaging in impression management). Consequently, the reports of these individuals are considered invalid, and are often rejected because they are viewed as not tapping the construct of interest (Zerbe & Paulhus, 1987). However, it is important to distinguish between spurious effects on personality scores and patterns of what may be personality structure. To the extent that the effects of positive response biases *are* spurious, validity is indeed threatened; but to the extent that there are consistent effects based on the tendency to fake good, then these effects are potential individual difference variables that may be

predictive in their own right. In reviewing Cronbach's assertions on response sets, Jackson and Messick (1958) suggest that the tendency to fake good may "not always be temporary and trivial, but may have a stable and valid component which reflects a consistent individual style or personality trait" (p. 244). Additionally, they suggest that for certain circumstances, personal response styles (which are consistent across time and situations) should be enhanced as opposed to being avoided or corrected.

Instead of conceptualizing faking good as a contaminant or something negative, the tendency to fake good can be conceived of as an individual difference variable. Indeed, Furnham (1986) supports this proposition: "Rather than considering social desirability a mere response artifact that threatens the validity of self-reports it should be seen as a substantive trait useful in predicting beaviour" (p. 398). In his review of issues of faking in personality inventories, Hogan (1992) states:

... it seems reasonable to conclude that the ability to enhance scores on a personality inventory is itself a personality variable ... In this light, dissimulation, when it exists, becomes less serious as a problem to overcome and instead becomes an important individual differences variable

(p. 904).

Rynes (1993) likewise calls for further research on the "factors that underlie *individual* differences in 'fake good' abilities" (p. 265). Moreover, McCrae and Costa (1989) argue that faking good should be considered a substantive trait that may be predictive of important outcomes. Canter (1963) suggests that there is practical importance in the ability of subjects to present a good picture of themselves, ". . .

falsification of test scores and the capacity to do so may be a personality variable of considerable importance in its own right rather than merely an undesirable and incidental factor to be 'corrected for'" (p. 253).

Canter (1963) conducted a study comparing the CPI responses of a group of well-adjusted applicants to a group of presumably poorly adjusted, involuntarily admitted alcoholic patients. Both groups were encouraged to fake good in their responses by the instructions, "imagine you are applying for a job you really want and your employer will judge from this test whether to hire you or not. Answer the test in such a way as to give the best possible impression of yourself" (p. 254). Better adjusted subjects were able to increase their CPI scores more than poorly adjusted subjects. This suggests that some people can enhance their scores on personality tests more than others, and they are distinguishable by good adjustment. This further supports the notion that people differ in their tendency to fake good.

Summary

Taken together, these studies clearly support conceptualizing faking good as an individual difference variable. Moreover, many researchers have proposed the predictive utility of the tendency to fake good. There has been much research to support that faking good can happen; and there has been debate on whether or not, and to what extent it threatens validity. However, what has not been examined is how people differ in their tendency to fake good, and what factors can distinguish between those who possess this tendency and use it, from those who do not. Faking good is usually examined in terms of group differences, and it appears that no study has attempted to treat the tendency to fake good as a within-subject individual difference

variable. Previous research has shown that faking can happen (as detected through group comparisons of honest and fake conditions); however, there is still no indication of why people can fake good. The model tested in the present study will help illuminate the underlying reasons for why people can display this faking good tendency.

There is valuable information that can be gained from identifying the factors that account for variance in the tendency to fake good. Research indeed suggests that this tendency may be predictive of organizational outcomes such as job performance (Kriedt & Dawson, 1961; Kacmar, Delery, & Ferris, 1992; Ruch & Ruch, 1967; Wayne & Ferris, 1990). Yet before outcomes can be predicted from this tendency, it needs to be studied (1) within its framework of response bias; and (2) as it relates to and can be accounted for by other factors. <u>Implications</u>

The present study will add important information to the research on personality assessment and response bias because it appears that no study has examined faking good as an individual difference variable, even though many have called for this treatment (Canter, 1963; Furnham, 1986; Hogan, 1992; Jackson & Messick, 1958; Rynes, 1993). Moreover, the present study puts a unique perspective on the tendency to fake good in that faking good is perceived as a positive, adaptive, and potentially predictive variable as opposed to its usual treatment as a threat to validity (Hough, et al., 1990). Rather than examining how faking good may or may not contaminate validity, we should investigate the constructs to which it is related.

Moreover, this study is one of few that have attempted to assess individual differences in faking good through a within-subject procedure. Previous research has detected the presence of faking good

through group differences. People are only identified as faking good when they are compared to the mean of the group in the honest condition. This between-subject method fails to detect any differences among individuals in the tendency to fake good. The present study not only attempts to detect individual differences in faking good, but also examines the potential factors that may explain variance in this tendency.

It is anticipated that the results of this study will support the hypothesis that SD, SM, and IM are all significantly related to the tendency to fake good, and account for variance in this individual difference variable. To the extent that this holds true, further study of faking good as a predictor of important organizational outcomes is warranted. Faking good may be related to job performance in certain positions and circumstances (Kriedt & Dawson, 1961; Kacmar, Delery, & Ferris, 1992; Ruch & Ruch, 1967; Wayne & Ferris, 1990). If these relations between faking good, SM, SD, and IM are found to be robust, and if the tendency to fake good is reliably predictive of job performance in certain circumstances, faking good should *not* be something in need of correction, but conceivably something for which can be tested.

Hypotheses

1) It is hypothesized that there will be significant correlations between the tendency to fake good on a personality inventory and the concepts of self-monitoring (SM), social desirability (SD), and impression management (IM). This model will be tested using structural equation analysis, where the latent variables of SM, SD, and IM are predicted to have positive paths to the latent variable of faking good (see figure 1). This model will be statistically tested for 'goodness

of fit' to the sample data, which will be comprised of the observed variables of faking good, SM, SD, and IM. These observed variables will be measured using their respective scales, while faking good will be assessed by a within-subject technique discussed below.

2) To the extent that the factors of SM, SD, and IM are empirically related to faking good, it is further hypothesized that those people who have the tendency to fake good on the personality inventory will be distinguished by higher scores on SM, SD, and IM, while those who do not exhibit the tendency to fake good will have lower scores on these scales. Thus, SM, SD, and IM will be multiple predictors of the tendency to fake good, and will account for the variance in this tendency.

Method

Subjects

323 subjects were recruited from undergraduate and graduate Psychology courses at CSUSB. Cohen's power table (Cohen, 1992) suggests that for three predictors and for medium power at $\alpha = .05$, 76 subjects per predictor should be used. Thus for the three predictors of SM, SD, and IM, 228 subjects were required for adequate power.

225 of the participants were female, 92 were male, and 6 did not specify. 43% of the participants were Caucasian, 24.5% were Hispanic, 13.9% were African American, 5.9% were Asian, 4.3% were Filipino, 1.2% were Native American, 0.9% were Asian Pacific Islander, and 3.4% indicated other. 29.4% of the sample were freshman, 23.5% were sophomore, 12.7% were junior, 25.1% were senior, and 7.7% were graduate students.

Materials

The personality measure was the instrument on which the tendency to fake was assessed. For the purposes of this study, it was important to utilize a personality measure that is (1) fakable, and (2) relevant to the selection context described in the instructions to participants (see the Procedure section). A personality dimension that fits these criteria is Conscientiousness, part of the Big Five Personality Dimensions. Conscientiousness describes one who is careful, thorough, organized, planful, hard-working, achievement oriented, and persevering (Barrick & Mount, 1991; Carver & Scheier, 1992). The concept of conscientiousness is termed differently by different authors. A compilation of these synonymous labels is taken from Barrick and Mount (1991) and Carver and Scheier (1992), and includes conformity, dependability, will to achieve, responsibility, and conscience. Peabody and Goldberg (1989) suggest that conscientiousness relates to the life domain of work, which would explain the ubiquitousness of this personality domain in job related contexts (Barrick & Mount, 1991). Since this dimension of personality was used to measure the tendency to fake, it was necessary to ensure that subjects who were high in Conscientiousness in both the honest and fake conditions (i.e., those who displayed no significant increase in scores between the honest and fake conditions to be described below) would not be confounded with subjects who do not have the tendency to fake. That is, subjects who are at the ceiling for a personality construct have no room to enhance their scores, and thus would not display an increase in scores from time one to time two. These subjects would consequently be identified as not faking good due to their high scores on the personality dimension.

In an effort to alleviate this potential ceiling confound, subjects were assessed on all dimensions of the Big Five (Extraversion, Emotional Stability, Agreeableness, Conscientiousness, and Intellect) using Saucier's (1994) Mini-Marker's for the Big Five (see appendix a). This measure is a subset of Goldberg's 100 unipolar Big Five markers, and has comparable reliability to it (Saucier, 1994). Saucier (1994) reported reliability coefficients for each dimension: Extraversion (α = .83); Agreeableness (α = .81); Conscientiousness (α = .83); Emotional Stability ($\alpha = .78$); and Intellect ($\alpha = .81$). The present study used Saucier's mini-markers in two conditions - honest and fake (see procedure). The reliability coefficients on each dimension for the honest condition include: Extraversion (α = .82); Agreeableness (α = .76); Conscientiousness ($\alpha = .88$); Emotional Stability ($\alpha = .72$); and Intellect ($\alpha = .77$). The reliability coefficients for the fake good condition were α = .76 for Extraversion, α = .79 for Agreeableness, α = .92 for Conscientiousness, α = .76 for Emotional Stability, and α = .73 for Intellect.

The tendency to fake good was assessed by a measure of the consistency of a given subject's responses to Saucier's Big Five Mini-Markers (1994) under two conditions: honest and fake. This method involved correlating subjects' scores from the honest and fake conditions. Lautenschlager (1986) argues that this within-subject correlation (r_{wHF}) is more sensitive to individual differences in faking than other methods; thus, it is certainly appropriate in the present study. As Lautenschlager (1986) notes:

Large positive values will tend to indicate very consistent subjects, generally those subject who change their responses very little under the different

response [conditions] (It is possible that some of these individuals are consistent fakers under both response [conditions], but then no method outside of external validation will detect them). Strong negative correlations will tend to indicate subjects who go to different extremes under the two response sets, i.e., exhibit the most faking. Thus, the range of values of the correlation indicate to some extent the degree of accuracy with which a given individual responds to the items under the F condition relative to the H condition (p. 311).

Gordon and Gross (1978) propose two other methods for detecting faking: mean differences in scores that were obtained under the H and F conditions (Mean_F - Mean_H); and the variance of these same difference scores (S_{D}^{2}) . Lautenschlager notes that the first method is insensitive to individual differences in faking, but the second isn't. However, the second is insensitive to constant discrepancies. Thus Lautenschlager's method using within-subject correlations (r_{wHF}) will be employed to assess the tendency to fake good.

Self-Monitoring was assessed by Lennox and Wolfe's(1984) revised Self Monitoring scale. As Lennox and Wolfe note, Snyder's (1974) SM scale confounds acting ability with the ability to modify one's self presentation in daily social interactions. Therefore, Lennox and Wolfe (1984) developed a Revised Self-Monitoring Scale that defines the selfmonitoring construct in a more parsimonious and empirically logical manner. Whereas Snyder's original scale has five components, the present only has two. Snyder's multidimensional scale "extends beyond the limits of the construct, creating a situation in which its factors compete with one another" (Lennox and Wolfe, 1984, p. 1350). The Revised Self-Monitoring Scale contains 13 items and two subscales: ability to modify self presentation (coefficient alpha = .77), and sensitivity to expressive behavior of others (coefficient alpha = .70). The scale as a whole has a coefficient alpha of .75 (see appendix b).

The inclusion of the sensitive to expressive behavior of others is justified given Snyder's definition of the high self-monitor as one who possesses the ability to attend to the behavior of others, and use it as a cue to guide self presentation (Lennox & Wolfe, 1984). This method of assessing self-monitoring is congruent with its conception in the present study, and thereby was the most appropriate way to measure it. The present sample obtained a coefficient alpha = .726 for ability to modify self presentation, and a coefficient alpha = .668 for sensitivity to expressive behavior of others. The scale as a whole had coefficient alpha = .757.

Social Desirability was measured by using the total score for Paulhus' Balanced Inventory of Desirable Responding (BIDR) which measures two constructs: Impression Management and Self-Deceptive Enhancement (see appendix c). When all items are summed for a measure of social desirable responding, the coefficient alpha is .83 (Paulhus, 1991). The coefficient alpha in the current sample for Social Desirability is .820.

Impression Management will be assessed by Paulhus' Impression Management subscale of the BIDR. Coefficient alphas range from .75 to .86 for this subscale (Paulhus, 1991). The current sample obtained a coefficient alpha = .816 for Impression Management. For the subscale of Self-Deceptive Enhancement, coefficient alpahs range from .68 to .80 (Paulhus, 1991). The coefficient alpha for Self-Deceptive Enhancement in the current sample is .65.

A measure of general intelligence was added as an exploratory measure in order to rule out the alternative hypothesis that general intelligence ("g") would account for more variance in the tendency to fake good than SM, SD, or IM. This measure is a 40 item, spiral omnibus

test of general intelligence (see appendix d). The reliability of this measure in the present sample is .834.

Procedure

Honest and fake conditions were operationalized by two different instructions. Honest instructions encouraged the subjects to respond honestly, as they really are (see appendix A). Fake instructions asked the subjects to place themselves in a selection context where they are an applicant for a job that they desire. They were asked to respond to the questions in a manner that they would use if they were an applicant attempting to acquire the job. The instructions read:

Imagine that you are applying for a job that you *really* want, and your prospective employer will determine from this test whether to hire you or not. Please use this list of common human attributes to describe yourself <u>so as to ensure</u> that you will get the job.

Before each attribute, please write a number indicating how that trait were to describe you if you were trying to give the best possible impression of yourself, using the following rating scale:

The rating scale was the same as the honest condition. Subjects received the measures for SM, SD, and IM during their honest condition. Otherwise, subjects in the fake condition may have been in a "fake" mind set, and consequently there could have been be carry over "fake" effects on these measures.

Results

The data were analyzed using bivariate scatter plots, scatter plots of the residuals, and expected normal probability plots. It was determined that the assumptions of linearity and normality were basically met. The minimum and maximum values, means, standard deviations, and coefficient alphas for the scales of self-monitoring (SM), social desirability (SD), impression management (IM), selfdeceptive enhancement (SDE), and the g measure are reported in table 1. The reliabilities obtained in this sample for SM, SD, IM, and SDE are comparable to those reported by the authors of these scales. The means and standard deviations for SD and the two subscales (IM and SDE) are comparable to what Paulhus reports (Paulhus, 1991). There were no normative data available for the SM scale used in this study regarding descriptives. The minimum and maximum values, means, standard deviations, coefficient alphas, and test-retest reliabilities for each scale on the Big Five on both the honest and fake conditions are reported in table 2. The reliabilities of the Big Five dimensions are also comparable to the reliabilities reported by Saucier (1994). The means and standard deviations for the within-subject correlations between the honest and fake conditions for each dimension on the Big Five are reported in table 3.

Participants significantly increased their scores from time one (honest) to time two (fake) on each of the Big Five dimensions. Results from these t-tests are reported in table 4. There were significant correlations between means on the Big Five dimensions (both honest and fake conditions) with SM, SD, IM, SDE, and the g measure (see table 5). An interesting finding is the significant decrease in the correlations with SD from the honest condition to the fake condition for Conscientiousness. On this dimension, there was a significant decrease $(\underline{z}_{obt} = 2.43 > \underline{z}_{.025} = \pm 1.96, \underline{p} < .05)$ in the correlation between mean scores in the honest condition and SD ($\underline{r} = .355, \underline{p} < .01$) from the correlation between the mean in the fake condition and SD ($\underline{r} = .210, \underline{p} < .01$). The correlation between the means on Conscientiousness and the g measure significantly increased ($\underline{z}_{obt} = -3.38 > \underline{z}_{.025} = \pm 1.96, \underline{p} < .05$)

from the honest ($\underline{r} = .-.027$, $\underline{p} > .05$) to the fake ($\underline{r} = .243$, $\underline{p} < .01$) condition. The correlation between the means on Emotional Stability and the g measure also significantly increased ($\underline{z}_{obt} = -2.02 > \underline{z}_{.025} = \pm 1.96$, $\underline{p} < .05$), from the honest ($\underline{r} = .105$, $\underline{p} < .01$) to the fake ($\underline{r} = .266$, $\underline{p} < .01$) condition.

The within-subject correlations for the honest and fake conditions $(r_{wHF}, the index for faking)$ were transformed to z scores using Fisher's r to z formula (Howell, 1992) in order to ensure an approximately normal sampling distribution of r_{wHF} . These transformed within-subject correlations (r'_{wHF}) were not significantly correlated with SM, SD, nor IM for any of the Big Five dimensions. The correlations of these transformed within-subject correlations with scores on SM, SD, IM, SDE, and the g measure are reported for each Big Five scale in table 6. The r'_{wHF} for Emotional Stability was significantly correlated with scores on the g measure $(\underline{r} = -.211; \text{ p} <.01)$. The r'_{wHF} for Conscientiousness significantly correlated with SD $(\underline{r} = .128, \text{ p} < .01)$. IM $(\underline{r} = .899, \text{ p} < .01)$, and SDE $(\underline{r} = .816, \text{ p} < .01)$ were also significantly correlated with SD, as would be expected since they are subscales of Social Desirability (see table 7).

Subjects tended to fake more (as evidenced by a lower average r'_{wHF}) on the scale of Agreeableness ($\underline{M}_{r'wHF} = .3993$, $\underline{SD}_{r'wHF} = .63601$) than on Intellect ($\underline{M}_{r'wHF} = .57508$, $\underline{SD}_{r'wHF} = .62840$) ($\underline{z}_{obt} = -.2161 < \underline{z}_{.025}$ = ±1.96, $\alpha = .05$). Subjects also tended to exhibit more faking on Conscientiousness ($\underline{M}_{r'wHF} = .38584$, $\underline{SD}_{r'wHF} = .47591$) than on Intellect ($\underline{z}_{obt} = -2.3503 > \underline{z}_{.025} = \pm 1.96$, $\alpha = .05$).

To examine the first hypothesis, a test of goodness of fit was conducted using five multiple regression analyses. Using simultaneous entry, the r'_{MHF} for each scale was used as the criterion, and SM, SD, IM, and the g measure were used as predictors. Results from these multiple regression analyses are in table 8. Since these adjusted R^2 as goodness of fit indices were not significant (except for the Adjusted R^2 for Emotional Stability, but even here it is extremely small) the proposed structural equation analysis was not carried out.

Analyses were conducted on just the cases that were (1) identified to be extreme fakers and (2) extremely consistent. This was done in order to isolate the effects occurring just for these extremes. This was determined by selecting only those cases that were less than or equal to the 33rd percentile, and greater than or equal to the 66th percentile on the faking index for each of the dimensions. Thus, extreme fakers were identified by very large, negative values for r_{wHF} (the lowest 33 percent for these values on each dimension); and extremely consistent subjects were identified by very large and positive values for r r_{wHF} (the highest 33 percent for those values on each dimension). T-tests were performed in order to determine if extreme fakers scored significantly higher on the dimensions in the honest and fake conditions than the non-fakers. For the fake good condition on Extraversion (time 2), extreme fakers (M = 6.72, SD = 1.16) scored significantly higher [$\underline{t}(209) = 3.584$, $\underline{p} < .000$] than extreme non-fakers fakers (M = 6.14, SD = 1.17). Extreme fakers (M = 7.14, SD = 1.05) also scored significantly higher than the extremely consistent subjects (M = 6.22, SD = 1.36) on the fake condition of Emotional Stability [t(209) = 5.517, p < .000]. The extremely consistent subjects (M = 6.86 , SD = 1.05) scored significantly *higher* on the honest condition of

Conscientiousness [$\underline{t}(212) = -3.802$, $\underline{p} < .000$] than the extreme fakers ($\underline{M} = 6.33$, $\underline{SD} = .989$).

Originally, r_{wHF} was proposed as the index of faking. However opposite to what was hypothesized, positive correlations between this index and SM, SD, and IM were obtained. In order to get a broader sense of the relationships between faking good and SM, SD, and IM, two other indices of faking were calculated. These were Mean_{fake} - Mean_{honest} (D_{FH}) for each individual, as well as the within-subject variance of the differences in responses to the items under the honest and fake conditions (S^2_{wD}) . Greater values for D_{FH} are associated with more faking (a change in the positive direction from honest to fake). Greater values of S^2_{WD} are also associated with more faking, while smaller values indicate subjects who give very consistent responses. However, as Lautenschlager (1986) notes, S^2_{wD} is insensitive to constant discrepancies. Nevertheless, this index of faking was examined in an effort to better understand the construct of faking good. When D_{FH} is used as a measure of faking, it is evident by correlations with SM, SD, and IM (see table 6) that faking good is negatively associated with these constructs. That is, the more subjects tended to fake good (i.e., the greater the positive change from honest to fake) the lower these subjects were on SM, SD, and IM. Additionally, D_{FH} as a faking index was positively correlated with higher scores on the g measure for Extraversion, Conscientiousness, and Emotional Stability. However, when S^{2}_{wD} is used as an index of faking, the relationship between faking good and SM, SD, and IM is further clouded. The correlations between these constructs and S²_{wD} for each dimension of the Big Five are nonsignificant, and some are negative while others are positive. When S^2_{wp} is used, there were significant correlations between SDE and faking good for Agreeableness (\underline{r} = .151, \underline{p} < .01), and Emotional Stability(\underline{r} = .119, \underline{p} < .05). Moreover, faking good (S^2_{wD}) on Emotional Stability is negatively associated with higher scores on the g measure (\underline{r} = -.113, p < .05).

Discussion

The hypothesis that faking good on a personality measure would be correlated with the constructs of Self-Monitoring (SM), Social Desirability (SD), and Impression Management (IM) was not supported. Faking good (as measured by the within-subject correlation between scores on each of the Big Five scales in the honest and fake conditions) was not significantly correlated with any of the scales. Therefore in the context of this study, students displayed the tendency to fake good or not fake good *regardless* of their orientations on SM, SD, and IM. These results imply that faking good as an individual difference variable is a unitary and separate construct, unrelated to constructs of self-presentation.

A measure of general intelligence was employed in this study in order to rule out an alternative hypothesis that "g" would account for any potential individual differences in faking, rather than SM, SD, or IM. There was no evidence for this alternative hypothesis. In fact, faking good on Emotional Stability was *negatively* correlated with scores on the g measure. Thus, those individuals who displayed the tendency to fake good on this particular dimension also scored lower on the g measure. The fact that individual differences in faking good were not related to general intelligence lends more credit to the notion that faking good is a unified and separate construct.

One factor that may have contributed to the non-significant correlations between r' where for each dimension of the Big Five and the scales of SM, SD, and IM is the lack of stability of these withinsubject correlations. These correlations were based on eight items for all dimensions of the Big Five (except Conscientiousness, which was based on twenty items). These small N sizes produce unstable correlation coefficients with very large confidence intervals. The width of the confidence interval around r_{wHF} for Conscientiousness is ± .4753, more than one and a half standard deviation units. The width of the confidence intervals for Extraversion, Agreeableness, Emotional Stability, and Intellect is \pm .8765, greater than two standard deviations for these within-subject correlations. Therefore the true values for r_{wHF} across scales range from (plus or minus) one and a half to two standard deviations from the obtained within-subject correlations. Given these confidence intervals, the within-subject correlations must be interpreted with caution. Indeed, Lautenschlager (1986) notes that when r_{WHF} is used as an index of faking, longer questionnaires should be employed in order to yield more stable withinsubject correlations. Additionally, large sample sizes should be used to control for individual differences in reliability. While the sample size of the current study appears to be sufficient, the number of items on which the within-subject correlations are based does not.

Moreover, it is uncertain whether r_{wHF} as a faking index is reliable. That is, it is not known whether individuals would obtain similar correlations between scores in the honest and fake conditions in another situation. If a measure is unreliable, it will have near zero

correlations with other constructs. Thus, further research on r_{wHF} as a faking index is indeed necessary.

Additional findings that lend discredit to the within-subject correlations are the t-tests for the difference between the means on each dimension from time one and time two. These results indicate that subjects are significantly increasing their scores from the honest to fake conditions. This would suggest that on the whole, subjects tended to exhibit some degree of faking good. However, r_{wHF} as an index of faking is not congruent with these t-tests. While there is variability in the within-subject correlations, overall, subjects are fairly consistent in their responses from the honest to the fake conditions (mean within-subject correlations ranged from .287 to .416).

In an effort to better understand the processes of faking good, two other measures of faking were employed: D_{FH} and S^2_{wD} . D_{FH} is the difference between scores in the fake and honest condition for each dimension. S²_{wD} is the within-subject variance of the differences in the responses to each item under the two conditions of honest and fake. When the results of the three indices of faking good are compared across dimensions (see table 6), it is evident that each index reveals something different about faking. While faking good (as operationalized by strong, negative within-subject correlations) is not significantly correlated with SD, SM, or IM, the difference scores from the conditions of honest to fake are significantly and negatively correlated with SM, SD, and IM. Analyses using the difference scores reveal that the more subjects fake good, the lower the subjects score on SM, SD, and IM. However, these conclusions are not upheld when S^2_{wD} is used as a measure of faking. Analyses using the within-subject variances of the differences as a measure of faking yield insignificant and erratic

correlations. Thus, regardless of which index of faking is used, faking good is still unrelated to the constructs of SM, SD, and IM. This further supports faking good as an independent construct.

Another notable result is that on Conscientiousness, the correlations between the mean scores on this dimension and SD significantly decreased from the honest to fake conditions. One explanation for this decrease in correlations from the honest to fake conditions may be method variance. That is, the differences in these correlations may not be indicative of a true relationship. For instance, in the honest condition the correlation for the means on Conscientiousness and SD was .355. In the fake condition, this correlation dropped to .210. This is a significant difference in the correlations ($z_{obt} = 2.43 > z_{.025} = \pm 1.96$, p < .05). Scores on SD may have been affected by subjects' responses to the Big Five in the honest condition, which they completed before any of the other measures. In the honest condition, one would expect significant correlations between means on the Big Five dimensions with scores on SD since subjects' responses to items on the Big Five will influence their subsequent responses to the measures that follow it (SM, SD, IM). However, subjects did not get a second administration of SM, SD, and IM in the fake condition. Responses to the Big Five in the fake condition are influenced by a new instructional set, and therefore, means at time 2 on the dimensions would not likely be as correlated with SD as means on the dimensions at time one. Any genuine differences that may exist between honest and fake conditions concerning the relationship of a dimension and SD could only be revealed and interpreted had these measures been given at time two.

In addition to possible method variance accounting for the differences in these correlations, recent meta-analytic work using 239 studies (Ones, Viswesvaran, & Reiss, 1995) shows that scores on measures of Conscientiousness are typically correlated about .20 with measures of Social Desirability. Thus it would appear that perhaps the correlation between Conscientiousness and SD at time two ($\underline{r} = .210$, $\underline{p} < .01$) is approaching this "true" correlation between the two constructs. Conversely, the correlation between Conscientiousness and SD at time one, where subjects received both measures ($\underline{r} = .355$, $\underline{p} < .01$), may be an inflated indication of the relationship due to potential method variance.

Limitations

Factors that may have contributed to the unexpected findings of this study include the limitations associated with using a college student population as participants, as opposed to actual job applicants. The instructions for the fake good condition asked subjects to place themselves in a selection context where they were an applicant for a job that they really desire. They were asked to respond to the questions in a manner that they would use if they were seriously attempting to land the job. Students participating in this study were possibly not as motivated to respond in the manner of a job applicant. They did not have a vested interest in the outcome of obtaining or not obtaining the desired job. It is reasonable to suggest that individual differences in the tendency to fake good may manifest themselves differently depending on the situation; and in this particular study, subjects' tendency to fake good may not have been elicited with the instructions alone. Even though there was variance in the values and magnitudes of the faking

index (r'_{wHF}) , perhaps different results would have been attained had an applicant population been used.

Contrary to what would be expected given the instructions to fake good, some participants actually *decreased* their scores in the fake good condition as compared to their scores in the honest condition. Across dimensions, between 10 to 30 percent of the subjects had negative values for D_{FH} . This decrease in scores indicates that subjects actually faked bad in the fake good condition. Unfortunately, strong, negative values of the within-subject correlations would mis-identify those subjects as fakers since their scores were indeed inconsistent from the honest to the fake condition.

Another possible limitation could be the ceiling confound. While an attempt was made to alleviate this potential confound by using more than one personality dimension, it is possible that the people who are the actual fakers in this sample may have scored high across all dimensions in the honest condition. In time two, when these "true" fakers were instructed to fake good, they had no room to further enhance their scores given their previous high scores in the honest condition. If this was the case, these true fakers were identified as extremely consistent subjects (with large, positive values for r'_{wHF}), and thus mis-identified as extreme non-fakers. In his discussion of r_{wHF} as a measure of faking, Lautenschlager (1986) notes a possible interpretation of large, positive values for r_{wHF}, "It is possible that some of these individuals are consistent fakers under both response sets, but then no method outside of external validation will detect them." (p. 311). If the real fakers were mis-identified as consistent respondents, then the correlations between r' where for each dimension and SM, SD, and IM are

inaccurate indicators of the relationship between faking good and these constructs. Moreover, the difference scores (D_{FH}) would also fail to identify these consistent fakers since they would have little change in their scores. Finally, S^2_{wD} would also fail to identify these consistent fakers since their values for the within-subject variance of the differences would likewise be small, causing these people to be treated as consistent respondents. Thus, given the current methods for detecting faking, there appears to be no way to identify those consistent fakers who initially score high in time one, and correspondingly in time two. This limitation in measuring faking good and SM, SD, and IM.

Theoretical Implications

The information regarding faking good as an individual difference variable obtained from this study is valuable because it shows that people do vary in their tendency to fake good on a personality measure; and people vary in this tendency depending on the particular dimension of personality being assessed. Analyses of the differences between the means of the transformed within-subject correlations $(r'_{\rm wHF})$ reveal that more faking tended to occur on the Conscientiousness dimension than on the Intellect dimension, and more faking occurred on the Agreeableness dimension than on the Intellect dimension. This is evidenced by the lower within-subject correlations and Agreeableness than on Intellect.

Moreover, results of this study suggest that faking good is its own construct. Faking good was not related to any of the hypothesized constructs, not even general intelligence. Even though the tendency to fake good was not found to be related to SM, SD, nor IM, it was

nevertheless found to be an individual difference variable. Future research should continue to address faking good as an individual difference variable, and identify the situations and circumstances in which this tendency will, and will not be manifested.

Whether these findings are indicative of true relationships remains to be tested with more accurate and stable measures of faking. In the current study, it is unclear whether faking good truly is unrelated to SM, SD, and IM, or whether faking good failed to be captured by the measures of faking that were utilized. Additionally, the current indices of faking are incapable of differentiating those people who score high in the honest condition across personality dimensions and are truly those who would display the tendency to fake good, from those people who are consistent from honest to fake conditions and who would not display this tendency.

Future Research

Therefore the current study has exposed three avenues for future research. The first involves developing better methods for measuring faking, since the three utilized in this study all revealed different results regarding faking. Secondly, if $r_{\rm WHF}$ is used in future studies, longer measures of personality should be used in order to produce more reliable within-subject correlations. By increasing the length of the measures, not only will the stability of $r_{\rm WHF}$ be increased, but a more accurate measure of this construct will be obtained. Indeed, Ones and Viswesvaran (in press) note that in order to increase the criterionrelated validities of Conscientiousness, more than one Conscientiousness scale should be used in prediction because the criterion-related validity of a composite of Conscientiousness scales is higher than any one measure of Conscientiousness. Hence, it is not unreasonable to

administer a longer, aggregated scale of Conscientiousness in order to obtain more stable estimates of $r_{\rm WHF}$ as well as the construct of Conscientiousness itself. However it is important to note that the within-subject correlations between responses from the honest to fake conditions is more a measure of consistency of pattern rather than consistency of level, and thus may not be the most appropriate measure of faking. Thirdly, future design methods for research in faking good should include an administration of the independent variables during the fake good condition as well as the honest condition in order that more accurate interpretations of the decreased correlations from honest to fake conditions can be made. Additionally, these measures of SM, SD, and IM should also be given at a time before the personality measure is administered. In this way, a more pure assessment of these constructs can be made since the threat of method variance that was introduced in the current study can be reduced.

Table 1

Means and Standard Deviations for Self-Monitoring, Social Desirability, Impression Management, Self-Deceptive Enhancement, and the g measure

	Number of Items	Total Possible Minimum	Maximum	Mean SD	Coefficient alpha
Self-Monitoring ^a	13	5 1.77	4.85	3.32 .529	.757
Social Desirability ^b	40	40 1	31	11.40 5.5	5.783
Impression Management $^{\circ}$	20	20 0	15	5.48 3.3	7.724
Self-Deceptive Enhancement ^a	20	20 0	17	5.92 3.1	.650
g Measure ^ª	40	40 3	37	16.64 6.2	.834

35

a: N = 323 b: N = 321 c: N = 312

d: N = 314

Table 2

Means, Standard Deviations, Reliability Coefficients, and Test-Retest Reliabilities for all Big Five Dimensions (honest and fake conditions)

Scale	N	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	SD	Coefficient	Test-Retest Reliability for T1 & T2
Extraversion (honest) ^a	318	1.5	8.75	5.73	1.41	.820	.383
Extraversion (fake) ^a	318	2.88	8.88	6.49	1.17	.761	
Agreeableness (honest) ^a	322	3.88	. 9	7.11	1.20	.767	.524
Agreeableness (fake) ^a	321	3.75	9	7.62	1.02	.796	
Conscientiousness (honest) ^b	318	3.7	8.75	6.68	1.01	.883	.453
Conscientiousness (fake) ^D	314	3.5	9	7.65	1.00	.922	· · · ·
Emotional Stability(honest) ^a	319	2.12	8.88	5.33	1.30	.728	.383
Emotional Stability (fake) ^a	317	3	9	6.76	1.26	.761	
Intellect (honest) ^a	322	2.62	9	6.47	1.18	.772	.468
Intellect (fake) ^a	319	2.65	9	6.92	1.01	.732	

36

Total possible score on all scales, honest and fake, is 9.

a: number of items = 8

b: number of items = 20

Means and Standard Devia	ations	for the	Within-Sub	ject Cor	relation	ns of
Honest and Fake Conditio	ons (r	wHF) for E	ach Scale	of the B	ig Five	e je je konstrukciji se se je je je se je se
Scale	N	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	SD	
Extraversion $r_{\rm wHF}$	321	933	1.00	.3596	.4230	· · · ·
Agreeableness $r_{\rm wHF}$	299	820	1.00	.2871	.4401	
Conscientiousness $r_{\rm wHF}$	311	509	.999	.3120	.2974	
Emotional Stability $r_{\rm wHF}$	318	945	1.00	.3166	.4130	
Intellect r_{wHF}	312	845	1.00	.4155	.4111	

Table 3 the

Table 4

Results from T-tests on the Differences Between Means on Time 2 (fake) and Time 1 (honest) for each Dimension on the Big Five

	Mean 1	Mean 2	Difference			Significance	95% Co Inter the Di	nfidence val of fference
Scale	(honest)	(fake)	(Mean 1 - Mean 2) t	df	(two-tailed)	Lower	Upper
Extraversion	5.74	6.48	746	-10.31	314	.000	888	603
Agreeableness	7.11	7.62	516	-8.91	319	.000	630	402
Conscientiousness	6.69	7.65	955	-16.1	312	.000	-1.07	839
Emotional Stability	5.33	6.75	-1.42	-17.71	315	.000	-1.58	-1.26
Intellect	6.47	6.92	452	-7.03	318	.000	578	325

-	×.	ж.,				_	
	-	-		~		n	
	~		- A - A	<u> </u>			
_	~	-	-	~	÷.,		

Correlations Betwe	een Scores on tl	he Big Five Dimension	ns (honest and fake	e conditions) a	nd Self-
Monitoring, Social	l Desirability,	Impression Managemen	it, Self-Deceptive	Enhancement, a	nd the g Measure

	Self- Monitoring	Social Desirability	Impression Management	Self-Deceptive Enhancement	g measure
Extraversion (mean 1)	.356**	.183**	.060	.255**	034
Extraversion (mean 2)	.284**	.180**	.098	.211**	.069
Agreeableness (mean 1)	.045	.304**	.361**	.147**	.032
Agreeableness (mean 2)	.047	.219**	.260**	,107	.076
Conscientiousness (mean 1)	.121*	.355**	.365**	.234**	027
Conscientiousness (mean 2)	.127*	.210**	.220**	.133**	.243**
Emotional Stability (mean 1)	082	.363**	.337**	.277**	.105
Emotional Stability (mean 2)	.001	.243**	.242**	.167**	.266**
Intellect (mean 1)	.182**	.179**	.116*	.188**	.127*
Intellect (mean 2)	.182**	.108	.099	.082	.115*
그는 그는 것 같은 것 같			しきかん かいしん しんしん かいしん かいしん	- 「「「「「」」」「「」」」」」」」」「「「」」」」」」」」「「」」」」」」」」	

* Correlation is significant at the .05 level (2-tailed). ** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

	Self-	Social	Impression	Self-Deceptive	g
	Monitoring	Desirability	Management	Enhancement	
Extraversion					
\mathcal{L}' whf	.064	.059	.054	.045	087
$\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{HF}}$	140*	035	.024	087	.111*
S ² _{WD}	025	016	041	.017	062
Agreeableness					
r' whf	.025	039	030	035	011
D_{HF}	006	109	129*	054	.034
S_{wD}^2	032	.051	059	.151**	103
Conscientiousness					
\mathcal{L}^{\prime} whe	.070	.082	.033	.112*	085
\mathbf{D}_{HF}	.011	139*	141*	094	.265**
S ² _{wD}	026	012	100	.085	105
			an a		
Emotional Stability			en e	an an an an Argan	
\mathcal{L}^{\prime} whf	.071	.040	.060	.006	211**
D_{HF}	.078	115*	091	105	.141*
S ² _{wD}	.012	.027	068	.119*	113*
Intellect					
$\mathcal{L}'_{\text{wHF}}$	048	.070	.012	.110	.029
D_{HF}	031	095	037	125*	030
S ⁴ wD	063	.047	.050	.028	090

Table 6 Correlations Between All Indices of Faking Across All Big Five Dimensions

* Correlation is significant at the .05 level (2-tailed).

** Correlation is significant at the .01 level (2-tailed).

Table 7

Pearson Correlations Between Self-Monitoring, Social Desirability, Impression Management, and Self-Deceptive Enhancement and the g Measure

> Ч. Т

	Social Desirability	Impression Management	Self-Deceptive Enhancement	g Measure
Self-Monitoring	.138*	016	.257**	022
Social Desirability		.855**	.837**	003
Impression Management			.432**	.015
Self-Deceptive Enhancement				021

** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Table 8

Results from Multiple Regression Analyses as Tests of Goodness of Fit.

	·- ·				
	R	\mathbb{R}^2	Adjusted R ²	df	F
Extraversion	.159	.025	.013	4	2.032
				314	
Agreeableness	.037	.001	021	4	.100
 The second se Second second secon second second sec				292	
Conscientiousness	.160	.026	.013	4	1.99
	1997 - A.			304	
*Emotional Stability	.242	.059	.047	4	4.842***
		t e e		311	
Intellect	.098	.01	003	4	.734
- 		-		305	

* Significant beta weight for g measure ($\beta = -.215$; p < .001) *** Correlations significant at the .001 level.

Note: The independent variables are Self Monitoring, Social Desirability, Impression Management, and the g Measure. The Dependent Variables for each of the multiple regressions are the transformed within-subject correlations for the respective Big Five dimensions.



Appendix A

Mini Markers (Saucier, 1994)

How Accurately Can You Describe Yourself?

Please use this list of common human attributes to describe yourself as accurately as possible. Describe yourself as you see yourself at the present time, not as you wish to be in the future. Describe yourself as you are generally or typically, as compared with other persons you know of the same sex and of roughly your same age.

Before each attribute, please write a number indicating how accurately that trait describes you, using the following rating scale:

Inaccurate	?	Accur	ate
Extremely Very Moderately Slightl	y Sligh	tly Moderately	Very Extremely
1 2 3 4	5 6	7	8 9
Bashful		Neat	
Bold		Negl	igent
Careful	and the production	Orga	nized
Careless		Phil	osophical
Cold		Prac	tical
Complex		Prom	pt
Conscientious		Quie	t. t
Cooperative		Rela	xed
Creative		Rude	
Deep		Shy	
Disorganized	1. A.	Slop	ру
Efficient		Stea	dy
Energetic		Symp	athetic
Envious		Syst	ematic
Extraverted		Talk	ative
Fretful		Temp	eramental
Haphazard		Thor	ough
Harsh		Touc	hy
Imaginative		Uncr	eative
Impractical		Unde	pendable
Inconsistent		Unen	vious
Inefficient		Unin	tellectual
Intellectual		Unsy	mpathetic
Jealous		Unsy	stematic
Kind		Warm	
Moody		With	drawn
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

*Note that these direction differ for the "fake" condition.

Appendix B				
Revised Self-Monitoring Scale (Lennox &	Wolfe,	1984,	p. 1361)	
			r with	r with
Subscale/item	М	SD.	subscale	total
Ability to modify self-presentation				
1. In social situations, I have the	3.7	0,9	.42	.29
ability to alter my behavior if I		κ.		
feel something else is called for.	· · · · · ·	1 0	10	4 E
3. I have the ability to control the way	3.2	1.0	.40	.40
impression I wish to give them				·
7. When I feel that the image I am	2.4	1.1	.45	.41
portraying isn't working, I can readily				
change it to something that does.				
*9. I have trouble changing my behavior	3.1	1.2	.56	.46
to meet the requirements of any situation	4		N	
I IING MYSEII IN.	3 1	1 0	60	48
behavior to meet the requirements of any	2.1	1.0	.00	.40
situation I find myself in.	1			•
*12. Even when it might be to my	2.8	1.2	.30	.28
advantage, I have difficulty putting up a	. N	· · · · · ·		1. 1. 1.
good front.		1 0	CF	
13. Once I know what the situation calls	3.0	1.0	.65	.54
actions accordingly				
accions accordingly.	$(1,2,2,2,2) \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$			
Sensitivity to expressive behavior of				
others		1. Sec.		
2. I am often able to read people's true	3.2	1.0	.42	.40
emotions correctly through their eyes.	2 /	1 2	36	22
4. IN CONVERSALIONS, I all Sensitive to	5.4	1.5		• 4. 4.
expression of the person I'm conversing				
with.				
5. My powers of intuition are quite good	3.7	.09	.47	.32
when it comes to understanding others'		- 1 A		
emotions and motives.	Э Е	1 0	25	21
6. I can usually tell when others	3.5	1.0	.35	.31
though they may laugh convincingly.			No. Alexandre de la Compañía de la C	·
8. I can usually tell when I've said	3.8	.08	.53	.44
something inappropriate by reading it in		$\sim 1^{-5}$	- -	
the listener's eyes.				
11. If someone is lying to me, I usually	3.1	1.0	. 42	.29
cf expression				a sa ta
от суртератон.				
* Indicates items that are reversed coded.				
Response format is a six point, Likert typ	e scale:	1		

Response format is a six point, Likert 0 = certainly, always false 1 = generally false 2 = somewhat false 3 = somewhat true, but with exception 4 = generally true 5 = certainly, always true

Appendix C

BIDR Version 6 - form 40 (Paulhus, 1991). Using the scale below as a guide, write a number beside each statement to indicate how much you agree with it.

1	- 2 6 7
NOT TRUE	SOMEWHAT
	TRUE
1.	My first impressions of people usually turn out to be right.
*2.	It would be hard for me to break any of my bad habits.
3.	I don't care to know what other people rally think of me.
*4.	I have not always been honest with myself.
5.	I always know why I like things.
*6.	When my emotions are aroused, it biases my thinking.
7.	Once I've made up mind, other people can seldom change my
a n kun a ada ata 20 ku lining sakalar	opinion.
*8.	I am not a safe driver when I exceed the speed limit.
9.	I am fully in control of my own fate.
*10.	It's hard for me to shut off a disturbing thought.
11.	I never regret my decisions.
*12.	I sometimes miss out on things because I can't make up my
이 <u>가지 않는 것은</u> 또한 방법이 한 것이다. 이 것이 같은 것이 같은 것이 같이 있는 것이다.	mind soon enough.
13.	The reason I vote is because my vote can make a difference.
*14.	My parents were not always fair when they punished me.
15.	I am a completely rational person.
*16.	I rarely appreciate criticism.
17.	I am very confident of my judgments.
*18.	I have sometimes doubted my ability as a lover.
19.	It's all right with me if some people happen to dislike me.
*20.	I don't always know the reasons why I do the things I do.
*21.	I sometimes tell lies if I have to.
22.	I never cover up my mistakes.
*23.	There have been occasions when I have taken advantage of
	someone.
24.	I never swear.
*25.	I sometimes try to get even rather than forgive and forget.
26.	I always obey laws, even if I'm unlikely to get caught.
*27.	I have said something bad about a friend behind his or her
가 되었다. 가슴을 사람했다. 1995년 - 제품 관계 : 1997년 -	back.
28.	When I hear people talking privately, I avoid listening.
*29.	I have received too much change from a salesperson without
	telling him or her.
30.	I always declare everything a customs.
	그는 것이다. 집에서는 그는 것이 많이 나라는 것이 많은 것이 같은 것이 가슴이 나는 것이 가지 않는 것이 같이 가지 않는 것이 같이 같이 같이 않는 것이 같이 않는 것이 없다. 것이 있는 것이 없는

1. A. S. A.	*31.	When I was young I sometimes stole things.	
	32.	I have never dropped litter on the street.	
	*33.	I sometimes drive faster than the speed limit.	÷
	34.	I never read sexy books or magazines.	
	*35.	I have done things that I don't tell other people about.	
	36.	I never take things that don't belong to me.	
• • • • • •	*37.	I have taken sick-leave from work or school even thought	Ι
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		wasn't really sick.	
	38.	I have never damaged a library book or store merchandise	
		without reporting it.	
	*39.	I have some pretty awful habits.	
	40.	I don't gossip about other people's business.	

Items 1-20 assess Self-Deceptive Enhancement; items 21-40 assess Impression Management.
* indicates items keyed in the "false" (negative) direction.

Appendix D.

DIRECTIONS

- This is an exercise to appraise your knowledge of general information. Please answer the questions to the best of your ability. This portion should take no more than 12 minutes.
- Answer the questions by putting the correct answer within the parentheses. You should not use any outside resources to complete these questions.
- The following two questions are examples.

The opposite of down is:

1. east 2. under 3. up 4. cover

Please Begin Answering the Questions

- A person who is elated is:
 1. Sad 2. Angry 3. Happy 4. Gifted 5. Passive(
- Which of the following is most unlike the others?
 Typewriter 2. Desk 3. Cabinet 4. Stove 5. Calculator(
- Work is to pay as practice is to:
 Wealth 2. Curiosity 3. Happiness 4. Skill 5. Tired(
- 4. Square is to circle as cube is to:1. Rectangle 2. Pyramid 3. Sphere 4. Trapezoid 5. Triangle(

Continued on the next page

)

)

)

)

14 C 12 C	
6.	Consider the following:
	A is larger than B
	C is smaller than D
	C is larger than A
	Which is the
lar	gest?())
7.	To alleviate is to:
	1. Hasten 2. Ease 3 Prolon 4. Restrict 5. Change()
8.	When the following are arranged in an increasing sequence, what is the first letter of the third word:
an a	Square Cube Line Point ()
9.	Permissive does not mean:
	1. Restrictive 2. Allowable 3. Loose
л м л	4. Pardonable 5. Agreeable
10.	Which is the best example of an entrepreneur?
	1. Usher 2. Foreman 3. Fireman 4. Grocer
	5. Janitor
11.	If you had 13 cases of beans, 20 cases of carrots, 17 cases of pears and
	II cases of corn, now many cases of vegetables would you have (
12.	Which has the most similar meaning to lazy?
	1. Indulgent 2. Insolvent 3. Indolent 4. Inertia
	5. Involucrum
2 - A	المحمد المحم محمد المحمد ا
13.	
	What should the first two numbers in this series be?
	what should the first two numbers in this series be?
	what should the first two numbers in this series be? 16 4 9 3 4 2
•	what should the first two numbers in this series be?
14.	What should the first two numbers in this series be? 16 4 9 3 4 2() Which of the following is most unlike a triangle?
14.	What should the first two numbers in this series be? 16 4 9 3 4 2()) Which of the following is most unlike a triangle? 1. Square 2. Trapezoid 3. Rectangle 4. Circle
14.	<pre>what should the first two numbers in this series be? 16 4 9 3 4 2()) Which of the following is most unlike a triangle? 1. Square 2. Trapezoid 3. Rectangle 4. Circle 5. Hexagon())</pre>
14.	<pre>what should the first two numbers in this series be? 16 4 9 3 4 2()) Which of the following is most unlike a triangle? 1. Square 2. Trapezoid 3. Rectangle 4. Circle 5. Hexagon())</pre>
14.	<pre>what should the first two numbers in this series be? 16 4 9 3 4 2() Which of the following is most unlike a triangle? 1. Square 2. Trapezoid 3. Rectangle 4. Circle 5. Hexagon()</pre>
14. 15.	<pre>what should the first two numbers in this series be? 16 4 9 3 4 2() Which of the following is most unlike a triangle? 1. Square 2. Trapezoid 3. Rectangle 4. Circle 5. Hexagon() A storage space measures 18 ft. x 10 ft. x 10 ft. What portion of this space will be occupied by 300 crates,</pre>
14. 15.	<pre>what should the first two numbers in this series be? 16 4 9 3 4 2() Which of the following is most unlike a triangle? 1. Square 2. Trapezoid 3. Rectangle 4. Circle 5. Hexagon() A storage space measures 18 ft. x 10 ft. x 10 ft, What portion of this space will be occupied by 300 crates, each 3 ft. x 1 ft. x 1 ft in size?()</pre>
14. 15.	<pre>what should the first two numbers in this series be? </pre>
14.	<pre>what should the first two numbers in this series be? </pre>
14.	<pre>what should the first two numbers in this series be? 16 4 9 3 4 2()) Which of the following is most unlike a triangle? 1. Square 2. Trapezoid 3. Rectangle 4. Circle 5. Hexagon()) A storage space measures 18 ft. x 10 ft. x 10 ft. What portion of this space will be occupied by 300 crates, each 3 ft. x 1 ft. x 1 ft in size?()) Continued on the next page</pre>

	16.	Which word is least appropriate in the group below?
		1. Rock 2. Metal 3. Salt 4. Fish 5. Water()
	17.	What is the next number in the following sequence?
		1 3 6 10 15 ()
	18.	Fred, Alice, and George own 1/4, 5/12, and 1/3 of a company, respectively. The profits least year were \$120,000. How much less would Alice have earned if the profits were divided evenly, rather than on the above basis?
	19.	Aristotle is to philosophy what Samuelson is to:
		1. History 2. Literature 3. Mathematics 4. Agriculture
		5. Economics
	20.	What is the last letter of the third word when the following is rearranged to make a complete sentence?
		orod poen eht
	21.	A man paid 20% income tax on his yearly income of \$15,500. The government returned 10% of the amount of tax paid. How much was he taxed for the year?
	22.	What is the next number in the series?
		2 5 11 23()
	23.	A flipped coin comes up heads three consecutive tosses. The chances for heads on the fourth toss are:
		1. 1 in 1 2. 1 in 2 3. 1 in 3
		4. 1 in 4 5 1 in 5 ()
		na en el 1997, el caracteriza en la companya en la companya en la companya de la presenta en la companya de la En granda de la companya en la companya en la companya en la companya en la companya de la companya de la compa
	24.	Peter borrowed \$25,000 at a 7 1/2 percent rate per annum. He received a bill for a quarterly interest payment. What was the amount?()
	e ti L	
	25.	Which number or letter in the following sequence is incorrect?
		1 D 3 E 5 F 6 G 9 H()
	26.	The sum of three consecutive even numbers is 102. What is the smallest number?
	27.	Sedate is most similar to:
•		1. Composed 2. Affected 3. Angry 4. Concerned 5. Select ()
	1990 - M	에는 것은 학생님, 동물 문화 이 가지 않는 것은 것은 것은 것이 있는 것을 가지 않는 것을 가지 않는 것을 하는 것이 있다. 이 가지 않는 것은 것을 하는 것은 것을 하는 것은 것을 하는 것을 하는

Continued on the next page

28.	What is the missing fraction in the following series? 3/4 11/16 9/16 1/2)
29.	Assume the following two statements are true. "All conservatives are businessmen. Bob is a liberal." From this, you can deduct:
	1. Bob is not a businessman.
	2. Bob is a businessman
	3. Bob may or may not be a businessman.
	4. None of the above.
	5. Two of the above
· .	
30.	A famous anthropologist is:
	1. Aristotle 2. Freud 3. Mead 4. Darwin 5. Pavlov ()
31.	Which of the following does not belong?
•	1. French 2. Spanish 3. Italian 4. Russian 5. Portuguese()
20	A watch losse 20 generate every 10 hours. If it has been preperly get at
32.	6:00 a.m. on Monday, how slow will it be by noon on Tuesday?()
33.	What is the missing number?
	12 21 23 32 54 67 76 ()
34.	A freight train one mile long goes through a tunnel that is one mile long. If the train is traveling at a speed of 15 miles per hour, how long does it take to pass through the tunnel?
35.	Satiate is the same as:
1.	Jailed 2. Incarcerate , 3. Slovenly 4. Free 5. Satisfy()
36.	A department, working at 80 percent efficiency, produces 640 pieces per
	hour. What is the efficiency when this department produces 760 pieces per hour?()
37.	The manpower requirements for a certain plant are: first shift, 600;
	first two shifts. How many total people are required for the three shifts?
38.	What is the first letter of the third word when the following are arranged in their proper order?
÷ .	1. Broke 2. Cereal 3. Go 4. Baby 5. The()
	n en en la seconda de la construcción de la construcción de la construcción de la construcción de la construcci La construcción de la construcción d
	Continued on the next page

)

.....(

- 40. Moon is to sun as:
 - 1. Day is to night
 - 2. Light is to dark
 - 3. Fork is to tea
 - 4. Friend is to foe
 - 5. Sea is to land

REFERENCES

- Arkin, R.M. & Sheppard, J.A. (1989). Self-presentation styles in organizations. In R.A. Giacalone & P. Rosenfeld (Eds.), <u>Impression</u> <u>Management in the Organization</u> (pp. 125-139). Hillsdale, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Barrick, M.R. & Mount, M.K. (1991). The big five personality dimensions and job performance: Armeta-analysis. Personnel Psychology, 44,
- Barrick, M.R., & Mount, M.K. (1993). Autonomy as a moderator of the relationship between the big five personality dimensions and job performance. Journal of Applied Psychology, 78(1), 111-118.
- Caldwell, D.F., & O'Reilly, C.A. (1982). Responses to failure: The effects of choice and responsibility on impression management. Academy of Management, 25(1), 121-136.
- Canter, F.M. (1963). Simulation on the California Psychological Inventory and the adjustment of the simulator. Journal of Consulting Psychology, 27(3), 253-256.
- Carver, S. C., & Scheier, M.F. (1992). Perspectives on personality (2nd ed.). Allyn and Bacon: Boston.
- Cohen, J. (1992). A power primer. <u>Psychological Bulletin</u>, <u>112</u>(1), 155-159.
- Dicken, C.F. (1960). Simulation patterns on the California Psychological Inventory. Journal of Counseling Psychology, 7(1), 24-31.
- Dunnett, S., Koun, S., & Barber, P.J. (1981). Social desirability in the Eysenck Personality Inventory. British Journal of Psychology, 72, 19-26.
- Elliott, A.G.P. (1981). Some implications of lie scale scores in reallife selection. Journal of Occupational Psychology, 54, 9-16.
- Furnham, A. (1986). Response bias, social desirability and dissimulation. <u>Personality and Individual Differences</u>, 7, 385-400.
- Giacalone, R.A., & Rosenfeld, P. (1989). Impression Management in the Organization. Hillsdale, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Gordon, M.E., & Gross, R.H. (1978). A critique of the methods for operationalizing the concept of fakability. <u>Educational and</u> Psychological Measurement, <u>38</u>, 771-782.
- Guion, R.M., & Gottier, R.F. (1966). Validity of personality measures in personnel selection. Personnel Psychology, <u>18</u>, 135-164.
- Hall, R.H. (1991). Organizations: Structures, Processes, and Outcomes (5th ed.). NJ: Prentice Hall. Chapter 3 Organizational Structure.

- Hinrichsen, J.J., Gryll, S.L., Bradley, L.A., & Katahn, M. (1975). Effects of impression management efforts on FIRO-B profiles. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 43(2), 269.
- Heilbrun, A.B. (1964). Social-learning theory, social desirability, and the MMPI. Psychological Bulletin, 61(5), 377-387.
- Hogan, T.T. (1992). Personality and personality measurement. In M.D. Dunnette, & Hough (Eds.), <u>Handbook of Industrial and</u> <u>Organizational Psychology</u> (pp. 873-919) (2nd ed.) (Vol 2). Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press, Inc.
- Hough, L.M., Eaton, N.K., Dunnette, M.D., Kamp, J.D., & McCloy, R.A. (1990). Criterion-related validities of personality constructs and the effect of response distortion on those validities. Journal of Applied Psychology Monograph, 75(5), 581-595.
- Howell, D.C. (1992). <u>Statistical Methods for Psychology</u> (3rd ed.). Belmont, CA: Duxbury Press.
- Jackson, D.N., & Messick, S. (1958). Content and style in personality assessment. Psychological Bulletin, 55(4), 243-252.
- Kacmar, K.M., Delery, J.E., & Ferris, G.R. (1992). Differential effectiveness of applicant impression management tactics on employment interview decisions. Journal of Applied Social <u>Psychology</u>, <u>22</u>(16), 1250-1272.
- Kriedt, P.H. & Dawson, R.I. (1961). Response set and the prediction of clerical job performance. <u>Journal of Applied Psychology</u>, <u>45</u>, 175-178.
- Lautenschlager, G.J. (1986). Within-subject measures for the assessment of individual differences in faking. Educational and Psychological Measurement, 46, 309-316.
- Lennox, R.D., & Wolfe, R.N. (1984). Revision of the self-monitoring scale. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, <u>46</u>(6), 1349-1364.
- McCrae, R.R. & Costa, P.T. (1989). The structure of interpersonal traits: Wiggin's circumplex and the five-factor model. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 56, 586-595.
- Merydith, S.P., & Wallbrown, F.H. (1991). Reconsidering response sets, test-taking attitudes, dissimulation, self-deception, and social desirability. Psychological Reports, 69, 891-905.
- Ones, D. S., & Viswesvaran, C. (in press). Bandwidth-fidelity dilemma in personality measurement for personnel selection. Journal of Organizational Behavior.
- Ones, D. S., Viswesvaran, C., & Reiss, A. D. (1995, May). Social desirability in personality testing: The red herring. Paper

presented in F. L. Schmidt (Chair), <u>Response distortion and social</u> <u>desirability in personality testing and personnel selection</u>. Symposium conducted at the tenth annual meeting of the Society of Industrial and Organizational Psychology, Orlando, FL.

- Paulhus, D.L. (1984). Two-component models of socially desirable responding. <u>Journal of Personality and Social Psychology</u>, <u>46</u>(3), 598-609.
- Paulhus, D.L. (1991). Measurement and control of response bias. In J.P. Robinson, P.R. Shaves, & L.S. Wrightsman's (Eds.), <u>Measures of</u> <u>personality and social psychological attitudes</u> (pp. 12-59). Academic Press: San Diego.
- Peabody, D., & Goldberg, L.R. (1989). Some determinants of factor structures from personality-trait descriptors. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 57, 552-567.
- Ruch, F.L., & Ruch, W.W. (1967). The K factor as a (validity) suppressor variable in predicting success in selling. <u>Journal of Applied</u> Psychology, 51(3), 201-204.
- Rynes, S.L. (1993). Who's selecting whom? Effects of selection practices on applicant attitudes and behavior. In N. Schmitt & W.C. Borman (Eds.), Personnel Selection in Organizations. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Saucier, G. (1994). Mini-marker: a brief version of Goldberg's unipolar big-five markers. Journal of Personality Assessment, 63(3), 506-516.
- Seisdedos, N. (1993). Personnel selection, questionnaires, and motivational distortion: an intelligent attitude of adaptation. In, H. Schuler, J.L. Farr, & M. Smith (Eds.), Personnel Selection and Assessment: Individual and Organizational Perspectives. New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Shultz, K.S., & Chávez, D.V. (1994). The reliability and factor structure of a social desirability scale in English and in Spanish. Educational and Psychological Measurement, 54(4), 935-940.
- Snyder, M. (1974). Self-monitoring of expressive behavior. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 30, 526-537.
- Snyder, M., & Copeland, J. (1989). Self-monitoring processes in organizational settings. In R.A. Giacalone & P. Rosenfeld's <u>Impression management in the organization</u> (pp. 7-19). Hillsdale, <u>New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.</u>
- Tett, R.P., Jackson, D.N., & Rothstein, M. (1991). Personality measures as predictors of job performance: A meta-analytic review. Personnel Psychology, 44, 703-742.

- Thumin, F.J., & Barclay, A.G. (1993). Faking behavior and gender differences on a new personality research instrument. <u>Consulting</u> Psychology Journal, 45, (4), 11-22.
- Wayne, S.J., & Ferris, G.R. (1990). Influence tactics, affect, and exchange quality in supervisor-subordinate interactions: A laboratory experiment and field study. Journal of Applied Psychology, 75(5), 487-499.
- Zerbe, W.J., & Paulhus, D.L. (1987). Socially desirable responding in organizational behavior: A reconception. <u>Academy of Management</u> <u>Review</u>, <u>12</u>(2), 250-264.